
 
**PERSONAL AUDIO ENHANCERS ARE AVAILABLE FROM THE COUNCIL 

SECRETARY**
AGENDA FOR REGULAR ELKHART CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

LOCATION:  CITY HALL, 2ND FLOOR, COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
 July 1, 2024 

7:00 P.M. 
 

1.   Call to Order, Pledge, Moment of Silent Meditation, Roll Call 
 
2.  Minutes for Approval   
 Minutes of June 3, 2024  Council Meeting 
 Minutes of June 12, 2024  Finance Committee Meeting 
   
 Presentations and Introductions 
   
 
 Unfinished Business 
 

a) Reports of Council Committees  
      

b) Ordinances on Second-Third Reading  
Proposed Ordinance 24-O-22, an ordinance amending Ordinance 5283, an 

Storm Water Sewer System 
Proposed Ordinance 24-O-23, an ordinance approving a major amendment 
to 
Numbers 3632, 3650 and 3721, of the Common Council of the City of 
Elkhart, allow the conversion of two residential apartment units into 
professional offices, a change in density for the PUD to be known as 

 
Proposed Ordinance 24-O-24, an ordinance annexing certain real estate 
generally described as vacant land situated to the east of the east end Vernon 
Avenue and north of the 3300 block of Greenleaf Blvd., and declaring the 
same to be a part of the City of Elkhart, Indiana 
Proposed Ordinance 24-O-25, an ordinance repealing and replacing 
Ordinance 5263, an ordinance repealing and replacing Section 21 and Section 

e City of Elkhart, 
 

  
c) Ordinances and Resolutions Referred to Committees 

Proposed Resolution 24-R-17, a resolution of the Common Council of the City of 
Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether Alliance RV, LLC\3 Creek, LLC are in 
substantial compliance with its statement of benefits forms and memoranda of 
agreement approved under Resolution Nos. R-8-19, R-9-19 and R-10-19 
Proposed Resolution 24-R-18, a resolution of the Common Council of the City of 
Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether Alliance RV, LLC\3 Creek, LLC are in 
substantial compliance with its statement of benefits forms and memoranda of 
agreement approved under Resolution Nos. R-08-21, R-13-21 and R-14-21 



Proposed Resolution 24-R-19, a resolution of the Common Council of the City of 
Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether Alpha Systems, LLC\DVS, LLC are in 
substantial compliance with its statement of benefits forms and memoranda of 
agreement approved under Resolution Nos. R-43-20, R-44-20 and R-45-20 
Proposed Resolution 24-R-20, a resolution of the Common Council of the City of 
Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether American Millwork, LLC\Nickell Properties I, 
LLC are in substantial compliance with its statement of benefits  Personal Property 
(Form CF-1/PP) and the memorandum of agreement approved under Resolution Nos. 
R-07-21, R-11-21 and R-12-21 
Proposed Resolution 24-R-21, a resolution of the Common Council of the City of 
Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether American Technology Components, 
Incorporated (ATC)\1127 Miles Ave., LLC are in substantial compliance with its 
statement of benefits forms and memoranda of agreement approved under Resolution 
Nos. R-52-21, R-55-21 and R-56-21 
Proposed Resolution 24-R-22, a resolution of the Common Council of the City of 
Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether Big Dog Adhesives, LLC\435 Properties, LLC 
and 615 Properties, LLC are in substantial compliance with its statement of benefits  
Personal Property (Form CF-1/PP) and the memorandum of agreement approved 
under Resolution Nos. R-19-21, R-23-21 and R-24-21 
Proposed Resolution 24-R-23, a resolution of the Common Council of the City of 
Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether Flexible Concepts, Inc. are in substantial 
compliance with its statement of benefits  Personal Property (Form CF-1/PP) and the 
memorandum of agreement approved under Resolution Nos. R-51-21, R-57-21 and 
R-58-21 
Proposed Resolution 24-R-24, a resolution of the Common Council of the City of 
Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether EOZ Business, LLC are in substantial 
compliance with its statement of benefits (CF-1 Forms) and the memoranda of 
agreement approved under Resolution Nos. R-37-20, R-39-20 and R-40-20 
Proposed Resolution 24-R-25, a resolution of the Common Council of the City of 
Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether Marine Realty, LLC DBA Bennington Marine 
(South) are in substantial compliance with its statement of benefits (CF-1 Forms) and 
the memoranda of agreement approved under Resolution Nos. R-44-22, R-48-22 and 
R-49-22 
Proposed Resolution 24-R-26, a resolution of the Common Council of the City of 
Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether Tepe Sanitary Supply Inc.\T5, LLC are in 
substantial compliance with its statement of benefits (CF-1 Forms) and the 
memorandum of agreement approved under Resolution Nos. R-50-20, R-54-20 and 
R-55-20 
Proposed Resolution 24-R-27, a resolution of the Common Council of the City of 
Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether Champion Manufacturing Inc.\C.R. 17 Land 
Development, LLC are in substantial compliance with its statement of benefits forms 
and memoranda of agreement approved under Resolution Nos. R-41-19, R-42-19 and 
R-43-19 
Proposed Resolution 24-R-28, a resolution of the Common Council of the City of 
Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether CTS Corporation are in substantial compliance 
with its statement of benefits forms and memoranda of agreement approved under 
Resolution Nos. R-03-19, R-04-19 and R-05-19 
 
 



Proposed Resolution 24-R-29, a resolution of the Common Council of the City of 
Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether Kem Krest, LLC\La Isla Bonita Properties, 
LLC are in substantial compliance with its statement of benefits forms and 
memoranda of agreement approved under Resolution Nos. R-47-16, R-49-16 and R-
50-16 
Proposed Resolution 24-R-30, a resolution of the Common Council of the City of 
Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether Marson International LLC are in substantial 
compliance with its statement of benefits forms and memoranda of agreement 
approved under Resolution Nos. R-04-22, R-06-22 and R-07-22 
Proposed Resolution 24-R-31, a resolution of the Common Council of the City of 
Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether Placon Corporation are in substantial 
compliance with its statement of benefits forms and memoranda of agreement 
approved under Resolution Nos. R-14-20, R-27-20 and R-28-20 
Proposed Resolution 24-R-32, a resolution of the Common Council of the City of 
Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether Truma Corp.\42K Real Estate LLC are in 
substantial compliance with its statement of benefits forms and memoranda of 
agreement approved under Resolution Nos. R-04-18, R-09-18 and R-10-18 
Proposed Resolution 24-R-33, a resolution of the Common Council of the City of 
Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether FF US Acquisition Corporation, DBA Tuscany 
Motor Company\TLMTG Properties, LLC are in substantial compliance with its 
statement of benefits forms and memoranda of agreement approved under Resolution 
Nos. R-50-18, R-53-18 and R-54-18 

 
d) Tabled Ordinances and Resolutions  

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-10, an ordinance of the Common Council of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana, authorizing the issuance of the City of Elkhart, 
Indiana, taxable Economic Development Revenue Bonds and approving and 
authorizing other actions in respect thereto 
Proposed Resolution 24-R-14, a resolution of the Common Council of the City of 
Elkhart, Indiana, recognizing the Elkhart Lions Club for its achievements and its 
contributions to the Elkhart Community 

 
 
3.       New Business 

 
a. Ordinances on First Reading 

No ordinances on First Reading 
 

b. Resolutions 
There are no Resolution 
 

c. Vacation Hearings 
There are no vacation hearings 

       
d. Other New Business 

 
e. Reports of Mayor, Board of Works, Board of Safety or City Departments 

 
f. Neighborhood Association Report 



 
g. Privilege of the Floor

Please limit your comments to 3 minutes to allow others time to comment
 

h. Scheduling of Committee Meetings 
 
4.       Acceptance of Communications 

 Minutes of June 11, 2024  Board of Public Safety   
 Minutes of June 4, 2024  Board of Public Works 

 Minutes of March 14, 2024  Board of Zoning Appeals 
 Minutes of May 9, 2024  Board of Zoning Appeals 
 Minutes April 18, 2024  Elkhart Historic & Cultural Preservation Commission 
 Minutes of June 18, 2024  Parks & Recreation Board  
 Report  Month End June  Parks Department 

 
 
 Adjournment 
 
 
 



DRAFT

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR COMMON COUNCIL MEETING 
OF JUNE 3, 2024 

 
Present: Council President Arvis Dawson 

Council Members Alex Holtz, Brent Curry, LaTonya King, Aaron Mishler, 
Dwight Fish, Tonda Hines, Chad Crabtree and David Henke 

    
 
 This meeting was made available to the public electronically through WebEx. 
 
 President Dawson called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers at 
City Hall, 229 S. Second Street, in Elkhart.   
 
 Council Clerk Angie McKee led the assembly in the Pledge of Allegiance. President 
Dawson asked for a moment of silent reflection.   
  
 The clerk called the roll.   
 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 

President Dawson asked for a motion to approve the minutes from May 20, 2024. 
Councilman Mishler made a motion to withdraw the minutes for correction at the 
recommendation of the Council Clerk. There were a few errors that need to be corrected. 
President Dawson asked for a motion and a second to withdraw the minutes of May 20, 2024 
Councilman Mishler motioned and was seconded by Councilman Fish. 
 
By a unanimous voice vote, the minutes were withdrawn. 
 
Councilman Henke questioned are these grammatical errors or factual errors? 
President Dawson replied a combination of both. 
 

AMENDMENTS TO THE AGENDA 
 

Councilman Mishler proposed the substitution in entirety of Ordinance 24-O-14 with the 
updated version.  President Dawson said which is Ordinance 24-O-14-R and asked for a second.  
Councilman Henke seconded the motion. 
 
By a unanimous voice vote, substitution was approved. 
 
Councilman Mishler stated there is an error on the agenda under the proposed ordinance 20-18.  
It is marked as 20-18 and it should be 24-O-18. I actual ordinance itself, 
just on the agenda. He made a motion to correct it.   President Dawson asked for a second.  
Councilman Henke seconded the motion. 
 
By a unanimous voice vote, the correction was approved. 



 

2 
 

Councilman Mishler he said, he would like to propose to amend the title of proposed resolution 
23-R-13 to correctly reflect 24-R-13, under resolutions.  President Dawson asked for a second.  
Councilman Henke seconded the motion.  
 
By a unanimous voice vote, the motion carries. 
 
Councilman Mishler said I direct your attention to Proposed Ordinance 24-O-17 and request a 
motion to reconsider an amendment to rename the amendment from the Great Elkhart Fund to 
the Greater Elkhart Fund. I have been informed that the actual title of that fund is the Great 
Elkhart Fund, and I have a request that we have a motion to reconsider that amendment so it fits 
the actual legal title and the information in it.  He then made the motion.  President Dawson 
asked for a second.  Second by Councilwoman Hines.  He asked if there was any council 
discussion. 
 
Councilman Henke commented we will need to correct our Budget Books and all other 

Greater Elkhart Fund identified through years and years. 
mind how we end up just so it is uniform. 
 
President Dawson asked if there was any other discussion. 
 
By a unanimous voice vote, the motion carries. 
 
 
 

PRESENTATIONS AND INTRODUCTIONS 
 

There are no Presentations or Introductions. 
 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 

 
REPORTS OF COUNCIL COMMITTEES 
There are no reports of Council Committees. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

3 
 

ORDINANCES ON SECOND-THIRD READING 
 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-12 
 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING TWO HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS 
($200,000.00) FROM THE MOTOR VEHICLE HIGHWAY FUND FOR UNEXPECTED 

REPAIRS TO THE CITY OF ELKHART SEVERE WEATHER EMERGENCY 
NOTIFICATION SYSTEM 

 
President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only.  He asked for a 
motion and second to adopt on second reading.  Motion by Councilman Crabtree, second by 
Councilman Curry. 
 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-12 
President Dawson opened the council discussion starting at 44 minutes, 37 seconds of the audio 
recording.  

 
Councilman Henke asked, when was the last time these were updated and repaired?   
Corinne Straight, Director of Communications stated this project has been ongoing since 
2011.  There were some signals that were replaced between 2011 and 2014 and then there were 
several others that have been more recently replaced.  Councilman Henke said so for 
$200,000.00, how much is the total system costing as far as replacement and life expectancy? 
Corinne Straight questioned back from 2011? Councilman Henke said if that is what we are 
replacing or this is just an ongoing?  Corinne Straight said this is just an ongoing, this is the end 
of the project. We actually had to purchase new equipment, and we had to hire out a contractor 
for replacement. So that's what this final payment is for because everything is replaced and 
operational now.  Councilman Henke asked so the total package in all since 2011 is how much?  
Corinne Straight replied, I can get that information for you, I don't know.  Councilman Henke 
commented because if this is $200,000.00 and I don't know what percent it represents, maybe 
there's a better system. It sounds hugely expensive, I don't know how long it's going to last.  
Corinne Straight said we can get that information for you. Certainly with some of these that 

. 
 
President Dawson said thank you that would be good information for all of us to have.  
 
Councilman Mishler asked are all of the sirens functioning.   Corinne Straight replied, yes. 
Councilman Mishler asked, how did we find out if they were working?  When a test is done, are 
people physically standing there listening or is it transmitted to a central location? How, are we 
figuring out when a siren isn't functioning?  Corinne Straight said no, it s not transmitted back 
for now. We do have staff members that are out at each location to make sure the sirens are 

it is determined the first Saturday of the month, we had staff 
members out at each of the eleven sites.  Councilman Mishler said in the future it might be a 
good idea to see if we can look into that. Corinne Straight replied oh  looking into 

first 

addressed quickly. Thank you. 



 

4 
 

PUBLIC HEARING/DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-12 
President Dawson opened the public hearing/discussion starting at 47 minutes, 9 seconds, of the 
audio recording.  
 
There was no discussion from the public. 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-12 
President Dawson opened the council discussion starting at 47 minutes 16 seconds of the audio 
recording. 

 
Councilman Henke said I just thought it would be prudent since this is a piece of it and we 

 is $200,000.00, that is a significant 
been replacing and upgrading since 2011, I think it would have been appropriate to have the total 
package, total cost, and life expectancy to g

re going to have to replace it yet again. 2011 is some time ago 
 So I think it 

would have been good information to have.  President Dawson stated at budget time, I think this 

process. What does it going to cost us going forward?  
a great question.  
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to do a roll call vote on second reading. 
 
AYES: Holtz, Curry, King, Mishler, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Henke, Dawson 
NAYS:  
 
By a unanimous vote, the proposed ordinance passed on second reading 
   
Motion for third and final reading made by Councilman Mishler, second by Councilman Fish. 
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only and do a roll call 
vote  
 
AYES: Holtz, Curry, King, Mishler, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Henke, Dawson 
NAYS:  
 
By a unanimous vote, the proposed ordinance passed on third and final reading.   
 
Discussion on the proposed ordinance ends at 49 minutes, and 09 seconds of the audio recording. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 



 

5 
 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-13 
 

AN ORDINANCE ANNEXING CERTAIN REAL ESTATE COMMONLY KNOWN AS 
ELKHART EAST AREAS D AND F, INTERSECTION OF COUNTY ROAD 17 AND 
COUNTY ROAD 6, ELKHART, IN 46514, AND DECLARING THE SAME TO BE A 

PART OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA 
 

President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only.  He asked for a 
motion and second to adopt on second reading.  Motion by Councilman Fish, second by 
Councilwoman Hines. 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-13 
President Dawson opened the council discussion starting at 49 minutes, 45 seconds of the audio 
recording.  
 
Mike Huber Development Services said at the last meeting we had the resolution for the fiscal 
analysis for this annexation. This is approximately 200 acres. This includes the area on the 
southwest corner of County Road 6 and County Road 17 that is pretty much developed. He said, 
he thinks there are one or two lots left in there that are undeveloped. That represents about $35 
million of assessed 
the east side of County Road 17, just south of County Road 6, adjacent to the Pheasant Ridge 
area, , undeveloped land on the east side. And this is also, northeast corner of 
County Road 6 and County Road 17, near where the RV Hall of Fame is located. This is the area, 
south of Executive Parkway, he majority of this developed, there is a 
portion of this that is undeveloped. It is about $35 million of assessed valuation in the developed 
and undeveloped portions total.  He said as we presented at the last meeting, this will cost the 
city in terms of additional police and additional street maintenance about $20,000.00 a year. This 
will generate over $600,000.00 a year in new levy and new revenue coming back to the city. So 
this more than pays for itself with the revenue coming in just from the currently existing 

also 
identified the impact on the surrounding taxing jurisdictions based on the tax cap impacts, I just 
want to point out Osolo Township will see a reduction of about $80 total from this annexation 
and Washington Township about $7 from this. The relocation of Fire Station Six to the proposed 
County Road 6 and Ada Drive site will actually allow that station to provide more than adequate 
service to this proposed annexation area and the next one. 
 
Councilman Mishler stated to be clear, there is no residential in this? Mike Huber said this is 
all commercial and industrial. Up next, which is currently vacant undeveloped land is all zoned 
manufacturing.  Councilman Mishler asked these are all voluntary annexations?  Mike Huber 
replied that is correct, these are all voluntary annexations and the petitioner for annexation is 
here tonight if you have any questions for him as well. 
 
 
 
 
 



 

6 
 

Councilman Henke stated he has a couple of other questions; after considerable calls we need to 
urrently 

on this particular O-13, you said there is how much assessed value there? Mike Huber replied 
$34 million in assessed value.  Councilman Henke asked how quickly will this annexation go 
through.  Mike Huber said if we adopt it tonight, then it takes effect.  Councilman Henke asked 
what time frame would the new Station Six be erected that would actually adequately service 
that area.  Mike Huber stated, 
finishing design right now.  He said they are anticipating construction next year. Councilman 
Henke asked are we confident in the $8 impact?  Mike Huber responded, y
plan. Councilman Henke replied, we are talking about $30 million plus dollars but what is the 
impact to Osolo Township?  Mike Huber replied, it is $80 and $8 to Washington Township.  
Councilman Henke asked, is that an $8 dollar loss?  Mike Huber replied, c
according to the fiscal analysis produced by Baker Tilly. Councilman Henke stated, that seems 
hardly probable. I don't understand that whatsoever. He asked does the Baker Tilly Performa also 
provide since they do have a fire levy, do they provide the impact to the fire levy and not just the 
tax impact?  Mike Huber replied the total levy impact for Osolo Township is an $80 loss.  
Councilman Henke replied it is $79 you're giving up $30 plus million dollars of assessed value 
and the impact to that entity is $80 dollars? Mike Huber stated they're also no longer having to 
provide services in that space either. 
 

PUBLIC HEARING/DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-13 
President Dawson opened the public hearing/discussion and it begins at 55 minutes, 11 seconds 
of the audio recording  
 
Ken Jones with JPR said I'm sure you're all familiar with this development project. We started 
planning it back in 2000, and it's gone very well. We're working towards what we consider to be 
the end game, this is part of it, and actually, this particular annexation, this first one, and the 
second one, were all always planned to move into the city. Obviously, there's no way that these 
projects could go forward without the city's partnership and water and sewer availability to these 
development sites. It's really made the area flourish and we're expecting to see much more. I'd be 
glad to answer any questions that you have. And thank you for considering it. 
 
President Dawson asked if there were any questions for Mr. Jones. 
 
Councilman Fish asked, are there any entities ready to put some shovels in the ground? 
Ken Jones stated, of the things we needed to do was 
get this into the city, make sure sewer and water were ready, designed and made available. That 
particular strip on the eastside, is more of a commercial, office, that type of thing, not really 
industrial, it's kind of narrow 
W always hopeful.  Councilman Fish stated, i  prime land, it will be snatched up. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

7 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-13 
President Dawson returned the discussion to the council starting at 57 minutes 28 seconds of the 
audio recording. 

 
Councilman Henke said, I want to make sure that these numbers are actual because it does say 
it is anticipated that the city will realize an increase in its levy of approximately $608,309.00, 
$578,199, net of circuit breaker as a result of this annexation. So I'm having a very difficult time 
understanding how Osolo Township is only going to realize a $79 tax revenue loss. Now if that's 
in per thousands, it would make a little bit more sense, but the whole county, if we're going to 
realize $34,578,900 of assessed value, and the total loss to library school, Washington township, 
Osolo township and county government is only $23,375. 
 
Councilwoman Hines asked if they have that information in their packet. 
 
Mike Huber stated that information was provided in with the fiscal plan in last meetings packet. 
He said I gave Councilman Henke the information just because he was questioning it and I had it 
in the folder. Mr. Henke, I'm happy to clarify that for you as well, but, those are the numbers. 
Councilman Henke replied, it differs from what the county provided and that is my real 
concern. It talks about the assessed value of each location, each property, and the total assessed 
value, and then the diversion of tax loss to other entities and it in no way matches what we have 
in front of us. Mike Huber replied I'm happy to clarify the numbers. What I also will say is that 
having served as president of the County Redevelopment Commission for over 15 years, all of 
this land is in a County Tax Increment Finance District, so the county can utilize those tax 
increment finance dollars to help replace specifically for public safety expenses.  Osolo 
Township or Washington Township can use those to offset out of that tax increment finance 
district. Councilman Henke said Osolo Township has a purposeful single itemized tax levy, for 
its fire department alone, which by law must be funded at 100%, no matter what happens out 
there. So it would indicate that the tax levy by percent would have to go up to cover that 
shortfall.  Is that how you see it? Mike Huber responded, I am not an expert in that, I am not the 
Control Councilman Henke stated, the Third District represents 
predominately the Osolo Township. Mike Huber replied, this will have no impact on city 
residents. Councilman Henke said, it does impact Osolo Township, which is the majority of the 
residents that I serve, I see it on my tax bill Osolo Township Levy Rate.  I would just like to 
know how much of that is going to be per $100,000.00. Mike Huber said, for city residents the 
tax is offset by the tax cap  
 
Councilman Mishler said, to be clear, Osolo Township will no longer have to provide fire or 
services to this annex area? Mike Huber replied, yes that is correct. Councilman Mishler 
asked, do we automatically take over or is it a phased in approach to providing services? Mike 
Huber said, I believe we are mandated by law to start initiating services within one year after 
annexation.  
 
 
 
 
 



 

8 
 

Councilman Henke said while I believe in annexation of the city, I do know that Osolo 
Township has been a great partner with us.  They cover us in many ways and we cover them in 
many ways.  It has been a good relationship.   He stated I realize that we have to provide services 
out there almost immediately after annexation, but we do not even have the groundwork done for 
Station Six.  We can say it is out there and we can say that we are going to be on time, but the 
reality is if Station Six is on a run, then the service has to come from downtown.  We just have to 
understand what we are putting in front of our systems and they are going to have to maintain 

s to be protected 
now.  He said we can keep whittling away at Osolo Township but they also have to survive and 
they have to provide fire and ambulance service to everyone else.   He realizes that we have 
Station Six coming up, but it is not here and we are asking for immediate annexation.   He said I 
would think that we would want to be somewhat simultaneous or we would work out some form 
of agreement with Osolo to help cover us at an expense until at which point our fire station is 
build and we can meet those standard run rates.  He stated he is concerned about what we are 
doing to their budget.   
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to do a roll call vote on Second Reading. 
 
AYES: Holtz, Curry, King, Mishler, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Dawson 
NAYS: Henke 
 
By a vote of 8-1, the proposed ordinance passed on second reading. 
 
Motion for third and final made by Councilwoman Hines Second by Councilman Mishler. 
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only and do a Roll Call 
vote. 
 
AYES: Holtz, Curry, King, Mishler, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Dawson 
NAYS: Henke 
 
By a vote of 8-1, the proposed ordinance passed on third and final reading. 
 
Discussion on the proposed ordinance ends at 1 hour, 4 minutes, 53 seconds of the audio 
recording. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



 

9 
 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-14-R 
 

AN ORDINANCE ANNEXING CERTAIN REAL ESTATE COMMONLY 
KNOWN AS ELKHART EAST AREA A, NORTHWEST CORNER OF COUNTY 

ROAD 4 AND COUNTY ROAD 17, ELKHART, IN, 46514, AND DECLARING 
THE SAME TO BE A PART OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA 

 
President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only.   
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-14-R 
President Dawson opened the council discussion starting at 1 hour 5 minutes and 06 seconds of 
the audio recording. 
 
Councilman Mishler stated due the substitution of this ordinance in its entirety, this has caused 
a need for a re-publication. He made a motion to table 24-O-14-R.  Second by Councilman 
Henke. 
 
By a unanimous voice vote, this ordinance was tabled. 
 
Discussion on the proposed ordinance ends at 1 hour, 5 minutes, 58 seconds of the audio  
recording. 
   

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-15 
 
 AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING ONE MILLION FOUR HUNDRED FIFTY-
SEVEN THOUSAND TWO HUNDRED FORTY-THREE AND 75/100 DOLLARS 

($1,457,243.75) FROM THE GENERAL FUND TO THE OTHER FUNDS 
ACCOUNT, AND AUTHORIZING THE CONTROLLER TO TRANSFER THE 

FUNDS TO THE LOCAL ROAD & BRIDGE MATCHING GRANT FUND 
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to read Proposed Ordinance by title only.  He asked for a 
motion and second to adopt on second reading.  Motion by Councilman Henke, second by 
Councilman Crabtree.   
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-15 
President Dawson opened the council discussion starting at 1 hour, 6 minutes, 32 seconds of the 
audio recording.  

 
There was no council discussion. 

 
PUBLIC HEARING/DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-15 

President Dawson opened the public hearing/discussion starting at 1 hour, 6 minutes, 37 seconds, 
of the audio recording.   
 
There was no public discussion. 
 

 



 

10 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-15 
President Dawson returned the discussion to the council starting at 1 hour, 06 minutes and 44 
seconds of the audio recording. 
 
Councilman Henke his question was inaudible. Jeff Schaefer, Assistant City Engineer stated 
this ordinance goes along with the next ordinance which better explains this it is part of the 
receipt of a Community Crossings Matching Grant that we received. This matching grant will 
provide funding for resurfacing four (4) streets in the northwest industrial parks, the east 
industrial parks, and West Beardsley Avenue from Nappanee Street to Main Street. I can provide 
you a list if you'd like, but that is the general areas.  Councilman Henke his question is 
inaudible.   Jeff Schaefer stated it is the industrial properties, east of Edwardsburg Road, west of 
County Road 7, and north of the airport. So Dexter, on the north side of County Road 6. Dexter, 
Lillian, Wade, Thorn, that area. It's also, Airport Parkway, Paul Drive, Jamie Street, Steven 
Court, Gateway Drive, Gateway Court and Glenview Drive. I might have some of those suffixes 
incorrect.  Councilman Henke his question is inaudible. Jeff Schaefer said this is Middlebury 
Street itself, County Road 15, County Road 17, Verdant Drive, both north and south of 
Middlebury Street, Hoffman Street, Green Court, and Patricia Court. I believe that covers it. And 
then the last one is West Beardsley from Main Street to Nappanee Street.  Councilman Henke 
said I appreciate the explanation, thank you. 

 
President Dawson asked the clerk to do a roll call vote on second reading. 
 
AYES: Holtz, Curry, King, Mishler, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Henke, Dawson 
NAYS:  
 
By a unanimous vote, the proposed ordinance passed on second reading. 
 
Motion for third and final made by Councilwoman Hines, second by Councilman Crabtree.   
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only and do a roll call 
vote.  
 
AYES: Holtz, Curry, King, Mishler, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Henke, Dawson 
NAYS:  
 
By a unanimous vote, the proposed ordinance passed on third and final reading. 
 
Discussion on the proposed ordinance ends at 1 hour, 10 minutes, 26 seconds of the audio 
recording. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

11 
 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-16 
 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING THREE MILLION THREE HUNDRED 
THOUSAND DOLLARS ($3,300,000.00) FROM THE LOCAL ROAD AND 
BRIDGE MATCHING GRANT FUND FOR THE 2024 GRANT-FUNDED 

CONTRACT PAVING PROJECT UNDER THE COMMUNITY CROSSINGS 
GRANT PROGRAM 

 
President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only.  He asked 
for a motion and second to adopt on second reading.  Motion by Councilman Crabtree, 
second by Councilwoman Hines.   
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-16 
President Dawson opened the council discussion starting at 1 hour, 10 minutes and 54 seconds of 
the audio recording. 
 
President Dawson mentioned this is a partnering ordinance to the one we just passed. 
 
Councilman Henke said I just want to make a clarification here. The total project, there's two 
different pieces, two different grants, is that what we're saying? But it's the same identified 
roadways?  Jamie Arce, Controller said the original ordinance that was just passed is the city's 
local match associated with the entirety of the project per the State Board of Accounts.  We are 
to transfer the money in its entirety out of the Local Road and Bridge Matching Grant Funds. 
This is just a companion component to give us the a hundred percent of the funding necessary for 
the project for the record, the original ordinance that was just passed is the City's local match 
associated with the entirety of the project per the State Board of Accounts. Councilman Henke 
questioned whose district does this belonged to? 
 

PUBLIC HEARING/DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-16 
President Dawson opened the public hearing/discussion starting at 1 hour, 12 minutes, 25 
seconds of the audio recording. 
 
There was no public discussion. 

 
COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-16 

President Dawson returned the discussion to the council starting at 1 hour, 12 minutes and 33 
seconds of the audio recording. 
 
There was no further council discussion. 
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to do a roll call vote. 
 
AYES: Holtz, Curry, King, Mishler, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Henke, Dawson 
NAYS:  
 
By a unanimous vote, the proposed ordinance passed on second reading. 
 



 

12 
 

Motion for third and final made by Councilman Crabtree, second by Councilman Fish. 
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only and do a roll call 
vote. 
 
AYES: Holtz, Curry, King, Mishler, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Henke, Dawson 
NAYS:  
 
By a unanimous vote, the proposed ordinance passed on third and final reading. 
 
Council Discussion ends at 1 hour, 13 minutes and 51 seconds of the audio recording. 
 
 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-17 
 
AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING EIGHT HUNDRED TWENTY THOUSAND 

DOLLARS ($820,000.00) FROM THE GREAT ELKHART FUND FOR 2024 
ASPIRE ELKHART TARGETED INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENT 

PROJECTS 
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only.  He asked 
for a motion and second to adopt on second reading.  Motion by Councilman Mishler, 
second by Councilman Fish.  
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-17 
President Dawson opened the council discussion starting at 1 hour, 14 minutes and 37 seconds of 
the audio recording 

 
Tory Irwin, Public Works This ordinance is for an appropriation to do four (4) infrastructure 
maintenance projects. The first one being resurfacing of County Road 6 from Johnson St. to 
Osolo Rd. We are jointly working with Elkhart County to fund this project. The limits on County 
Road 6 go in and out of the city, so we are jointly working with them and have come to an 
agreement to split the cost of 50/50 to resurface that section of County Road 6. In addition to 
that, this ordinance passes funding for the replacement of the railroad crossing at County Road 1. 
Replacement of the Gause Lot parking lot pavement. When we did that project in 2016, we put 
in pervious concrete in order to have a green solution to the storm water because that was a CSO 
project. The storm water green solution got us a reduction in the interest rates at the time of the 
loan, so we were happy to do that. Unfortunately, the salt and the plows and the concrete 
payment has not held up and it has basically turned to rubble. We had an incident there last 
winter. We need to get that removed and replaced with regular asphalt. Finally, along Lexington 
Avenue, we have some guardrail that is falling into the riverbank and is not serving the purpose 
that guardrail serves, which is to keep the vehicles out of the river in the event that they need it. 
So we need to replace that. 
 
 
 



 

13 
 

Councilman Henke asked about the railroad, upgrade. Is that part of the Patriot Railroad 
System? Tory Irwin replied yes it is. Councilman Henke asked what the total cost of that one 
was specifically or all of them jointly? Tory Irwin replied all of them jointly was approximately 
$1.2 Million Dollars. It was roughly $200,000.00 per crossing and we did six (6) crossings. 
Councilman Henke asked, did that money come from all tax funds?  Did the Patriot Group 
owner pay for any of it? Tory Irwin replied, they did not but, they provided the contractor that 
did all of the work. Councilman Henke asked, do they bring any revenue into the city, what is 
their purpose? Tory Irwin responded, I cannot answer that question. Councilman Henke 
questioned, they did not put aside money for these projects and we are waiting on these trains to 
go through and then we have to pay for the reconstruction? I have had complaints of tires that 
needed replaced because of those crossings and we spend tax dollars to fix those crossings. 
We're not the owner of them. We're just paying and we're being the responsible party. So I think 
a fair question Mr. Huber or someone can tell us, what is their direct or indirect tax benefit to the 
community that they're taxing and from where they are taking the money? 
 
Councilman Mishler said the asphalt you mentioned, is that utilized in any other city lots or 
anywhere else? Tory Irwin replied do you mean the pervious concrete? We actually do have 
one other lot in the city it is by Blazer Crossing off of Waterfall Drive, that is not a very used lot 
and that pervious concrete has actually held up just fine, and it's been in there since pre 2010, so, 
we're not entirely sure other than usage, why this lot wasn't able to hold up like that. 
 

PUBLIC HEARING/DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-17 
President Dawson opened the public hearing/discussion starting at 1 hour, 18 minutes 24 seconds 
of the audio recording. 
 
There was no public discussion. 

 
COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-17 

President Dawson returned the discussion to the council starting at 1 hour, 18 minutes 31 
seconds of the audio recording.   
 
There was no further council discussion. 

 
President Dawson asked the clerk to do a roll call vote on second reading. 
 
AYES: Holtz, Curry, King, Mishler, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Henke, Dawson 
NAYS:  
 
By a unanimous vote, the proposed ordinance passed on second reading.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

14 
 

Motion for third and final made by Councilman Henke, second by Councilwoman Hines.  
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only and do a roll call 
vote.  
 
AYES: Holtz, Curry, King, Mishler, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Henke, Dawson 
NAYS:  
By a unanimous vote, the proposed ordinance passed on third and final reading. 
 
Discussion on the proposed ordinance ends at 1 hour, 19 minutes, 32 seconds of the audio 
recording. 
 
 
 

ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS REFERRED TO COMMITTEES 
 

There are no ordinances or resolutions referred to committees. 
 
 

TABLED ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS 
 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-10 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 
INDIANA, AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA 
TAXABLE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT REVENUE BONDS AND APPROVING AND 

AUTHORIZING OTHER ACTIONS IN RESPECT THERETO 
 
President Dawson stated that this ordinance will remain tabled. 
 
 

ORDINANCES ON FIRST READING 
 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-18 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING MAP CREATED PURSUANT TO 
ORDINANCE NO 4370, THE ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 

INDIANA AS AMENDED TO REZONE 3500 LEXINGTON PARK DRIVE, ELKHART, 
INDIANA, 46514 FROM M-1 LIMITED MANUAFACTURING DISTRICT TO B-1 

NEIGHBORHOOD BUSINESS DISTRICT 
 

President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only.  He stated if there 
were no objections, this would move on to second reading.  
 
There were no objections and ordinance moved on to second reading 
 

 



 

15 
 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-19 
 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING THREE MILLION ONE HUNDRED TWENTY-
FIVE THOUSAND DOLLARS ($3,125,000.00) FROM THE ECONOMIC 

DEVELOPMENT INCOME TAX FUND TO THE BUILDING AND STRUCTURES 
ACCOUNT FOR THE ACQUISITION OF PROPERTY FOR DEVELOPMENT AS A 
COMBINED 

EMERGENCY COMMUNICATIONS DEPARTMENTS 
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only.  He assigned this 
ordinance to the Finance Committee. 

 
 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-20 
 

AN ORDINANCE VACATING NORTH-SOUTH ALLEY BETWEEN LOST 180 
TH ADDITION TO THE CITY OF ELKHART, A 

PUBLIC WAY WITHIN THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA 
 

President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only.  He stated if there 
were no objections, this would move on to second reading.   
 
There were no objections and ordinance moved on to second reading. 
 
 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-21 
 

PARK 
COMMISSION ORDINANCE NO PC-87-41, BY INCREASING THE PERMITTED 

LOTS UNDER CASSOPOLIS PARK PUD WITH AN OUTLOT FOR FURTHER 
DEVELOPMENT AS A CASUAL RESTAURANT 

 
President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only.  He stated if there 
were no objections, this would move on to second reading.   
 
There were no objections and ordinance moved on to second reading. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



 

16 
 

RESOLUTIONS 
 

Proposed Resolution 24-R-13 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 
INDIANA, AUTHORIZING THE TRANSFER OF FIFTY THOUSAND DOLLARS 

($50,000.00) FROM THE FULL TIME ACCOUNT TO CONTRACT SERVICES 
ACCOUNT OF THE ELKHART CITY CLERK 

 
President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed resolution by title only. He asked for a 
motion and second to adopt the resolution.  Motion by Councilman Mishler, second by 
Councilman Fish. 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-13 
President Dawson opened the council discussion starting at 1 hour 22 minutes and 03 seconds of 
the audio recording. 
 
Deb Barrett, City Clerk I am here to answer questions. I tried to give you as much information 
in my cover letter as I could, but I'm here to answer any questions you may have. And I will say 
that I will be requesting that the part time position become permanent in my upcoming budget 
for next year. I didn't foresee that I would need that for this year, but it will be in my budget. 
 
Councilman Fish Thanks for being here, so this is for the part time employee? 
Deb Barrett replied yes, I had one part time vacancy that was already approved by the council. 
We are adding the second part time, which necessitates the rest of the transfer to back up the 
Council Clerk in cases of absence, vacation, etc. We need somebody that can just step in and run 
the meeting.  Councilman Fish questioned you think you're going to need that person 
permanently based on the volume, the workload etcetera?  Deb Barrett replied I do. I believe 
that the council clerk's job is not a 40 hour week job and these days, people do not want to work 
weekends, and they also do not want to take it home. We have been blessed in the past with other 
council clerks that didn't mind doing that and putting in many, many hours on their own time and 
getting paid overtime. That doesn't seem to be as much of an incentive as it used to be to just get 
paid, they would rather have the time and if we do comp time then they're gone and then they get 
further behind. So it really needs to be a backup position. The other concern that I've heard is, 
like scheduling of committees tonight there were things put to committee and you don't know 
until tonight, and then that chairman may say I want to hold a meeting on Wednesday. Well, 
people do plan ahead for their different things, and I like having somebody that I can grab and 
say, if one's not available, the other one can go in and do it.  Councilman Fish asked and this is 
proposed in your budget and there will be benefits that come along with this? Deb Barrett 
replied I  part timers receive benefits.  President Dawson said no they do not. 
 
Councilwoman Hines asked how many hours is part time hours?  Deb Barrett replied right 
now it's at 20. I will be requesting 25, in my budget.  The council clerk's workload, is like feast 
or famine. When you guys are in budget hearing and you have an 8 hour day, and then you have 
council meetings and committee meetings, it gets crazy. So I'm going to request 25 hours, but 
right now it's for 20 hours. 
 



 

17 
 

Councilman Henke said alright, so I walked into this really questioning what in the world we 
were doing because I was hopeful that we weren't paying somebody $50,000, to locate for us two 
part time positions. So what you're actually doing is covering the salaries and so that that hourly 
rate compensation is what? Deb Barrett replied through Personnel Partners, one of them is 
approximately $31, and the other is $27, but we have to pay a fee to Personnel Partners, along 
with the salary. So that it will not be for that amount of money and I will make sure that I give 
you details on what I believe the job should pay. Councilman Henke said, I just wonder, is it 
really necessary to go through personnel services, since you're going to have to do some on-site 
training to begin with? Could you have seasonal people or you do have part time summer school 
teachers?  Deb Barrett replied yes it is necessary, and I will give you a couple of explanations 
for that Mr. Henke. Number one, the council clerk position is training intensive. It is not just one 
task every day. There are many moving parts. I don't want to retrain someone every summer. We 
went through Indeed with Human Resources and I did not get a candidate that would fill the 
position. I need somebody that's interested in staying because we're going to put all this time into 
training. It's just not an easy job to train for. Councilman Henke said I get 

through a secondary service. And then if you want to hire that person, you also have to pay. Deb 
Barrett said, I intend unless I'm given better advice by the controller, to let that contract run and 
not buy it out and then start paying that person. I've talked to both the ladies that have come to 
me through there and I said, this is my plan, I don't want to pay out a lump sum and then start 
paying you, I don't really think that's frugal. Councilman Henke said so we're going to pay a 
higher rate because we're going to continue to pay Personnel Partners.  Deb Barrett stated 
because they have to pay a certain amount of hours either way. Councilman Henke said but 
your hours are cheaper in house than going through that service out there because they have to 
add on per hour right?  Deb Barrett replied, yes, sir. But what I'm saying is, I believe it's like 
580 hours that I have to contract for before I can hire them or I have to buy out that contract. My 
position is, if I'm going to have to pay for the 580 hours, why would I then start paying them 
taxpayer money on top of that? To me that would be a double fee. I intend and informed them to 
let the contract run because I've have to pay those hours. And when that expires, I'll be done with 
them. Councilman Henke said so you are saying the current rate that we pay is $37? Deb 
Barrett, replied, no sir. For one, it is like $31 and for the other part timer, it is $27.  Councilman 
Henke said and then if they were in house employees, Elkhart City part time employees. It 
would be like $20 and $25. Deb Barrett stated, but then again, we would have to pay the 
employer taxes that side of things, and there are no benefits. Councilman Henke said, but part 
time so that's all I was after is sure really to compare apples to apples, we would really need to 
see what would be the in house cost to have. A dedicated person comparison to someone that we 
believe we've trained made quite an investment in because, you know, working especially for 
this council is a pretty heavy task.  Deb Barrett replied, yes sir.  Councilman Henke 
commented, with that said, the issue was, how long and then do the cost comparison because if 
you're going to have this ongoing, I'm not sure which way is beneficial until you do the 
comparison, the cost benefit analysis. But I take your word that you know, I mean you've done 
your homework. Deb Barrett replied, yes sir, and I've met with the controller. 
 
 
 
 



 

18 
 

Councilwoman Hines asked, how much longer is the contract? Deb Barrett replied we just 
started, within the last few weeks.  Councilwoman Hines asked what the time frame was for the 
contract.  Deb Barrett stated I will get you that specific information, but I believe it's 580 hours 
before we can hire them without a buy out of that contract, and I will get that information for 
you.  
 
Councilman Henke said, I was asking for the dollars. I am just wondering, if we had known this 
early on, maybe we would have had a little room to hire your people.  Deb Barrett said we tried 
that and when we went with human resources.  I was getting a lot of resumes that I don't know if 
people know when their resume has been submitted, but, they were not qualified. The two that 
I've gotten from Personnel Partners both have a legal background, both have a ton of 
administrative experience and both of them are good typists.  I can just tell you the level of 
candidate that I have with Personnel Partners. And the other thing Mr. Henke is, if for some 
reason it doesn't work out, I can just request somebody else. 
 
Councilwoman King said Personnel Partners just does the screening for you so it eliminates you 
going through different other candidates like you said, and they have a screening process. I'm 
sure on testing skills and all that to know that they're qualified for the job.  Deb Barrett said we 
also interview them. So they send us what they feel fits our need as our candidate skills. We 
interview them and then they fill out a time sheet with Personnel Partners, we get an invoice. So 
they're not on our payroll right now, that is why there is the need for the transfer in order to be in 
good compliance I need that to come out of a contract or personal services line item to make it 
clear.  
 
Councilman Mishler asked will this position solely focus on the council clerk responsibilities or 
if you get overwhelmed with things as well, will they step in to assist you with it? Deb Barrett 
said originally until they are fully trained it will be 100% Council. Once that is done, just like 
every other employee in my office they will need to help if we are short, lunch hours to answer 

t 
be actually doing court work. Councilman Mishler asked I didn't know if we were still 
archiving things. I know that was a process for a while.  Deb Barrett replied my archivist is 
amazing and she's doing a wonderful job and we even have other cities coming to her to see, how 
we've arranged things. 
 
 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-13 
President Dawson opened the public discussion starting at 1 hour, 33 minutes, 53 seconds of the 
audio recording. 
 
There was no public discussion. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

19 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-13 
President Dawson returned the discussion to the council starting at 1 hour, 33 minutes 53 
seconds of the audio recording. 
 
There was no further council discussion. 

 
President Dawson asked the clerk to do a roll call vote.  
 
AYES: Holtz, Curry, King, Mishler, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Henke, Dawson 
NAYS:  
 
By a unanimous vote, the resolution passed. 
 
Discussion on the proposed resolution ended at 1 hour, 34 minutes, 24 seconds of the audio 
recording. 
 
 
 

VACATION HEARINGS 
 

There are no vacation hearings. 
 

OTHER NEW BUSINESS 
 

There was no new business. 
 
 

COUNCIL COMMENTS 
President Dawson opened the council comments starting at 1 hour, 34 minutes, 31 seconds of the 
audio recording. 

 
Councilman Henke stated I did want to make sure that we keep on the radar the Patriot Railroad 
Crossings, and I would hope that before we keep going down this road, that we would determine 
their value, in our community, because there's definitely now a measurable cost, and we just 
want to know, the purpose behind that, who do they service? Should there be a user fee so 
taxpayers aren't paying for something that has little or nothing to do with themselves besides 
crossings? I don't even know a mayor, who has done this much street work, so it is pretty 
tremendous and pretty impressive as long as we continue our ability to fund such things. Some of 
the roads that have been so bad for so long are being managed. I would ask that we be more 
consistent with Code Enforcement, cars parked in yards are becoming more common place. 
That's not a good sign for anyone and those that go into the tree line, because parking is difficult, 
we're going to have to come up with a more long term correction. Chief Milanese, thank you. 
I've called you a couple of times to resolve a couple of issues. You were right on spot. Thank you 
for that. And I would also say that I've had a couple of incidences where I've called the Police 
Department for incidences within our community while driving and they were very quick to be 
there, so I really appreciate that. Thank you. 



 

20 
 

Councilman Mishler said I've received numerous compliments for the Fish Fest that happened 
this past weekend, and I want to thank both the environmental center and the parks department 
for that as well as the reopening of the tower at High Dive Park. We have some great things 
going on in our community. We have the ongoing concerts at the public library that I encourage 
everyone to attend, and Jazz Fest coming up before too long as well and Rhapsody before that, 
so our community continues to grow and thrive, and it's just great to see. 
 
Councilman Fish said Jamison thank you for a great, great weekend. I personally greeted, I'm 
sure over 500 people at the Fish Fest because they all came to my tent to get the rods and reels. I 
got a few responses through emails and a couple of phone calls but the thanks came right on the 
ground at the tent level and it was a tremendous event and of course, the dedication was the 
cherry on top. Elkhart continues to show its love for what we are doing by showing up at our 
parades and our parties and our festivals. 
 
Councilman Curry said, I have been getting great comments about the Pierre Moran Pavilion 
new parking lot, our crews did a great job with that. For a long time we had water flooding 
problems, it was a total reconstruction and it looks so good for our community and it is going to 
serve the community well and we appreciate that. 
 
President Dawson said during Jazz Fest we will be celebrating Allen Strike. The mayor will be 
doing a presentation in the Cittadine Room on June 21 at 6:30 pm to 8 pm. I want to invite all the 
public to come out and celebrate with Allen, he's done so much for us throughout the city and 
especially with the Jazz Fest,  done an outstanding job. 
 
Council comments end at 1 hour, 38 minutes, 57 seconds of the audio recording. 
 
 

REPORTS OF THE MAYOR, BOARD OF WORKS, BOARD OF SAFETY OR CITY 
DEPARTMENT HEADS 

President Dawson opened the reports starting at 1 hour, 38 minutes, 59 seconds of the audio 
recording. 
 
Tory Irwin, Public Works Director said, I just wanted to extend an invitation to you this  
Thursday at 6 pm the utility will be hosting our annual presentation to the Council. If you would 
like to come early at 4:30 pm, we would be happy to give you a tour of the incomplete 
construction of the Waste Water Treatment expansion.  Also we received some good news today 
about the Blazer, Richmond, Waterfall Crossing, which was not part of the six (6) that we were 
doing.  We found out today the administration has been working with the railroad. They've been 
putting in some applications with the FRA for grant money. They were able to receive more 
grant money for that railroad crossing. And finally, the FRA has given all the approvals 
necessary, for them to get started. So that project is going out to bid next week by the railroad. 
They'll be getting a contractor underway, and fingers crossed that by August, we could have a 
new railroad crossing there. He said we are going to coordinate with them and get that underway. 
 
 
 



 

21 
 

Jamison Czarnecki, Superintendent Parks & Recreation, said I want to say thank you to 
everybody who showed up for the High Dive Tower. Thanks for coming to support our events as 
well. As we have all seen, summer is kicking off. There is no shortage of things to do in Elkhart, 
if people say it, they are not looking. I'm proud of my team and the staff that we've been working 
alongside with them to make the updates, do the hard work, and I think the residents are taking 
notice. I am really excited because I think this is just the beginning and we have a lot more 
planned that is coming. So stay tuned for the summer. But I did want to say, for the Rhapsody 
Arts and Music Festival, we have that coming up as noted, we want to encourage people to come 
out and volunteer. We have a few more shifts that we need for some bridge greeters that helps us 
count our numbers so that we're accurate, and at the same time, we have something new this year 
at 12:00 the full festival will open, including the lunch vendors, all of our food trucks, we 
encourage you to come out for the 1st fight kicking off at 12:00. Thank you. 
 
Mayor Rob Roberson said I want to say thank you for all of those who attended the State of the 
City, it was well attended and, let's call it the theme was quite frankly moving forward on the 
Aspire plan. And I know you've seen many ribbon cuttings, many publications that have gone 
out in a press conference form. I think it's very important, for us to first alert our residents of 
what's going on and, and how to participate and engage. Secondly, I think it's important for our 
crews who work diligently on these projects to be recognized for what they have done. We've 
talked a lot in the public space about the Johnson Street project, which was a wonderful project. 
We spoke to it, I think at the last council meeting, but that was a project that was brought to the 
administration when we asked for them to reach a standard that's higher than what they have 
currently or previously operated on and they came back and said mayor, I think we can do this 
for a whole lot less, a whole lot quicker, and using our crews. And when we examine the cost 
relative to the efficiency of doing it, it turned out that was true. The Pierre Moran Park parking 
lot was in the same vein, done within budget, not asking for an additional appropriation. And 
those are the kind of things that make you say Thank You. And so when we cut a ribbon, we are 
not trying to take a lap. What we're trying to do is make sure that we're making people aware of 
the fact of the work that all of you are doing and the work that the staff is doing in order to make 
our community as Councilman Mishler said, thrive. But we want to continue to grow in those 
areas where quality of place, quality of life are necessary and we're going to be having additional 
ribbon cuttings along the way. Councilman Henke spoke a moment ago about the road projects 
that we've undertaken and the ones that we have currently in the funnel. Believe me, we are 
working diligently with the controller, as well as, Mike Huber and Economic Development in 
order to make sure that these projects are fitting within the construct of Thrive and Aspire, and 
taking it to the next level. These are the kind of things that are important in a timely way in order 
to do these things the right way. So I want to say thank you, and that's what, the State of the City 
was about this particular year. We're going to continue to do State of the City, offshoots. I'm 
going to speak to service clubs.  We're going to make sure that we're engaging the public so that 
we can continue to gain partnerships all over the city, to join us in what we're trying to 
accomplish. That's a part of leveraging the investment in order to create the kind of engagement 
and relationship from all of these different constituencies and stakeholders throughout our city. 
So thanks so much for attending, and as I think our Council President Dawson said, earlier 
today, that Friday was one of those days that the city was buzzing. It was a wonderful, kind of an 
evening in which it was warm enough to be out without a coat and a jacket and people were on 
the rooftop over on Jackson Street or whether or not they were downtown, it was buzzing. They 
were walking and having things to do and we're pretty excited about it. That kicks off our 



 

22 
 

summer and we're headed towards Jazz Fest in the upcoming weeks, we had Rhapsody this 
particular week. Let's not forget, Rhapsody is one of our largest events in the summer and it used 
to kick off our summer, even though Cinco de Mayo kind of stepped into that space with a 
wonderful day and a packed crowd on Central Green. And so we'll head to Island Park this 
particular weekend and hopefully, it will be safe and sound for everyone, but we know we will 
get the crowds. And so please come out and enjoy, your participation is just as important as 
anyone being there. When I'm in my office and I hear comments about, I saw Brent Curry here or 
I saw the Mr. Fish there or I saw Councilwoman Hines there. It actually does speak volumes, to 
your participation and what we're doing. So thanks so much for what you do. 
 
President Dawson said, I'd be re-missed  I thank the council, regarding my sister's 
passing, for all your condolences, your cards, your phone calls. It was very much appreciated. I 
mean from the entire city, so I want to make I thank you all for that. 
 
Reports end at 1 hour, 47 minutes, 01 seconds of the audio recording. 

 
 

PRIVILEGE OF THE FLOOR 
President Dawson opened privilege of the floor starting at 1 hour, 47 minutes and 15 seconds of 
the audio recording. 
 
Lewis Ann Deputy said, I want to thank each and every one of you for your willingness to 
serve. In listening to the State of the City and the Let's Talk Tuesday, I do think it's important to 
have citizen engagement. That's what makes us thrive, not just in volunteering, but being 
involved here and offering our perspectives. I did appreciate your questions in regards to the 
annexation. I had the privilege of attending the Strong Towns program at the Lerner that was in 
March and one of the takeaways I had from that was after World War II not just Elkhart has 
grown and expanded from our downtowns and it's has created an environment, where cities have 
a lot to maintain. But we don't really necessarily have the resources to sustain it, and so the 
sustaining of it is occurring on the backs of the citizens through taxes. So I appreciate your 
questions in regards to that. It sounds like in regards to this annexation, it's been planned and 
people have known about it. I do think it would be beneficial if we knew of other planned 
annexations and how that really does impact the citizens and what we're paying. I know that the 
City Council per se, doesn't set property taxes, but in the decisions that are made, it can impact 
the citizen's taxes and I say that because as I was listening to the planning commission, there's 
another portion that is going to be annexed into Osolo Township. I think that is land and it is 
with seven houses which we need, but I think it would be beneficial to the citizens to know what 
are the plans of areas that are being annexed and how will it impact us? Because that really 
struck me with the Strong Towns. You spread out, there's a lot of roads to cover, and 
infrastructure. The other thing I just wanted to briefly mention, and I know you guys are going to 
be taking it to the Finance Committee Meeting, is the acquisition of the old Chase building, for 
the public safety building that's been long talked about. I just want to read a statement as you go 
into discussing it. This is from Indiana Code 5-14-13, and it states A fundamental philosophy of 
the American Constitutional Form of representative government is that government is the 
servant of people and not their master. Accordingly, it is the public policy of the state that all 
persons are entitled to full and complete information regarding the affairs of government and the 
official acts of those who represent them as public officials and employees. Providing persons 



 

23 
 

with the information is an essential function of a representative government and an integral part 
of the routine duties of public officials and employees whose duty it is to protect the 
information.   I understand in regards to the Redevelopment Commission, they're doing hard 
work. There's some wonderful projects going on, even with annexation, you said we want 
responsible annexation, we want responsible redevelopment, I do think there are concerns on the 
citizen's behalf, some citizens, just as far as transparency and accountability, and, it goes back to 
Freight Street. They were going to purchase the six (6) parcels of property for the average of the 
two fair market appraisals at $70,500, and the next thing we know, they were paying $300,000 
for it. once again, that is being paid from the citizens. I use that as a historical perspective, it's 
happened in regards to the public safety building that's being purchased.  When they announced 
they were going to be purchasing it, the cost was $2.3 million dollars and now it is $3.1 million 
dollars which originally, the $2.3 million was the average of the two fair market appraisals, 
which is required by code. So just curious why they're not sharing what the average of those two 
appraisals for the Chase building were. I know they can say on the code that those appraisals are 
for the information of the commission and are not open for public inspection. That is a 
suggestion, I really encourage you all as you represent us. I do think it's fair for the citizens to 
have accurate and transparent information on what they're going to be spending. So I really thank 
you for serving. I know it's convoluted, they're not easy answers, but I do ask for that 
transparency and accountability on behalf of all citizens.  
 
Privilege of the Floor ends at 1 hour, 53 minutes, 18 seconds of the audio recording. 
 
 

 NEIGHBORHOOD ASSOCIATION REPORTS 
President Dawson opened the Neighborhood Association reports starting at 1 hour 53 minutes 
and 29 seconds of the audio recording 
 
Councilman Crabtree reported the Strong Avenue Neighborhood Association will meet June 
4th at the Triangle, Southeast corner of Strong Avenue and Highland Avenue. It will be at 7pm 
and our guest will be Mayor Roberson who will be giving a mini State of the City. 
 
Councilman Curry reported on the Pierre Moran Neighborhood Association, we postponed our 
meeting until next Sunday at 5 pm. We will be meeting outside on the green space at Dinehart 
and Hawthorne Drive if anyone would like to attend. 
 
Councilwoman King said, I wanted to give thanks to Patrick Industries for bringing the Tower 
to Tunnel here to Elkhart. I appreciate it. It was awesome. I want to give my thanks to our Police 
and Fire for what you do for us, so thank you. 
 
Councilman Henke commented, I just wanted to ask again, it's been over six months now I've 
asked for ambulance revenues and wanted to know where we were with that and getting the 
information to me. 
 
Neighborhood Association reports end at 1 hour, 54 minutes, 52 seconds of the audio recording. 
 
 
 



 

24 
 

SCHEDULING OF COMMITTEE MEETINGS 
 

The Finance Committee Meeting will be June 12, 2024 at 5:30 pm.  
 

 
ACCEPTANCE OF COMMUNICATIONS 

 
 Minutes of March 12, 2024  Aurora Capital Development Corporation 
 Minutes of February 28, 2024  Board of Aviation Commissioners 
 Minutes of March 27, 2024  Board of Aviation Commissioners 
 Minutes of March 19, 2024  Board of Public Works 
 Minutes of April 2, 2024  Board of Public Works 
 Minutes of March 21, 2024  Elkhart Historic & Cultural Preservation Commission 
 Minutes of March 18, 2024  Elkhart Urban Enterprise Zone 
 Minutes of March 13, 2024  Lerner Theatre Board 
 Minutes of March 12, 2024  Redevelopment Commission 
 Report  March Month End  Elkhart Communications Center 
 Report  March Month End  Parks Department 
 
 
Motion to accept communications made by, Councilman Mishler second by Councilman 
Crabtree. 
 
By a unanimous voice vote, the communications were accepted. 
 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 
Motion to adjourn made by Councilman Mishler second by Councilman Fish. 
 
By a unanimous voice vote, the meeting was adjourned. 
 
 
 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk    Arvis Dawson  
       President of the Elkhart City Council 








































































































































































































































































































































































